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Introduction

‘Ped Time Stories-I' is a collection of twenty anecdotes in dual language with
suitable sketches from the life history of Guru Gobind Singh. He was born on 22nd
December 1666 at Patna.

At the age of five, he saw that the rulers were not performing their duty of
looking after their subjects. The honour and the property of other sects was being
looted in broad day light. There was no one to whom they could complain. In those
dark days, he perceived that the poor should be able to defend themselves against
oppression and tyranny. To make them fit, he began to train the children of his
own age the art of battle at the river Ganges.

He learnt to recite the ‘Granth Sahib’ by heart in less than six months on
arriving at Anandpur. In 1705 AD, at Damdama Sahib he dictated the scriptures,
from memory to Bhai Mani Singh to write it down in its present form. The Guru
made his Sikhs to read and understand the teachings of Guru Nanak. He arranged
for the Hindu scriptures to be translated into Punjabi so that the Sikhs could learn,
what was written in those books. He broke the shackles-of Brahminism that the
knowledge of Sanskrit and religious study should remain with Brahmins alone.
The Brahmins for their own self interest and benefit, wanted the general public to
remain ignorant in order to mislead and cheat the simple village folks. The Guru

.brought the literacy to his followers.

In 1699 AD, out of the lowly and the weak, Guru Gobind Singh created the
“Khalsa”, the army of God, to end the tyranny. The nectar bestowed by him made
Sikhs into real Singhs (lions). A Singh was imbued with such courage that he was
prepared to face an army of thousands on his own. Even a recluse like Banda
Singh Bahadur after baptism was so encouraged that he became the first Sikh
ruler in Punjab. The Guru brought the women on equal footing with men. After
baptism ‘Kaur’ is added to their name which means princess. In the Hindu caste
system the women rights were the same as “Shudras”, the lowest in the caste
system.

Guru started the first “Red Cross Service”. He had love for every one even those
who were fighting against him, as he had no enemy except the reign of terror.

I acknowledge, the art work matching the stories by S. Sukhwant Singh, and
am indebted to KP Singh Brar my friend for helping to translate the stories, typing
the manuscript by my daughter Rajmeet Kaur and full co-operation of S.Pritam
Singh Navyug Press, New Delhi.

SS Jagdev
160-Formans Rd. Birmingham
B 11 3 BD England
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Hymn

O’ God, grant me this boon,

That I never shun from Thy righteous path.
Let the fear overtake me not,

When I go in the battlefields.

Give me the faith, I fight to win.

That [ am instructed by my higher mind,
that I crave ever to sing Thy praise.

And when cometh The end of life

I die fighting in a holy war!
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Far-Sighted Bhikhan Shah

In 1666 AD Guru Tegh Bahadur was on a tour of India. He was preaching to
the oppressed and frightened population to break the bonds of tyranny. All the
young and old of the country knew him. Prince Gobind Rai was born on the 22nd
December 1666. The news of his birth spread throughout the country.

Pir Bhikhan Shah who viewed both Hindus and Muslims alike, also came to
know the birth of the Guru's son. The Pir was a renowned Muslim saint. He was
a resident of the village Gharam in district Ambala. A desire to see the Guru’'s son
arose in the holy man'’s heart. Taking some of his followers with him, he proceeded
towards Patna. Undergoing hardships on the way, the Pir reached Patna in two
months. He requested Kirpal Chand the uncle of the Guru’s son for the glimpse
of the child.

Guru Tegh Bahadur was still on his tour of Assam. Uncle Kirpal Chand said
to the Pir, “Nobody can have the glimpse of the child as long as the child’s father
does not see his son first.” On hearing this, the Pir went on hunger strike and
squated before the door. After a few days, Kirpal Chand took pity on the condition
of the Pir and granted him permission to see the Prince.

The Pir was very pleased to behold Prince Gobind Rai. To see whether Prince
Gobind Rai, on growing up, will love more Hindus or Muslims, he placed before
him two small earthen pots, one filled with water and the other with milk. In his
mind, he assigned the pot containing milk to Hindus and that with water to
Muslims. The Prince who loved all and was loved by everybody, placed his hands
on both the pots. The Pir understood that he would give equal love and respect to
both the religions.

The Pir called for a third pot and presented it to the Prince. The child Guru
placed his tender right hand on it. The Pir concluded from it that having equal
respect for the two, he will create a third faith. The wish of the Pir was fulfilled.
He returned to his hermitage at Gharam with his followers.

Prince Gobind Rai stopped for a night at Gharam with him on his way to
Anandpur from Patna, several years later.
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Uncommon Games

Prince Gobind Rai was hardly five when he started to get weapon training. He
began to break pitchers of women carrying water with the aim of his catapult. The
women whose pitchers were broken would complain to his revered mother. The
mother used to buy them brass utensils which would not break with the pellets.

The Prince asked his uncle Kirpal Chand and had bows and arrows made. The
arrows had iron tips fitted. With the arrows he began piercing those brass utensils.
The women again complained to his mother. The mother said spontaneously, “I
am tired of these complaints. It would be better if the water of this well turns
brackish.” The words of the revered mother came true. The water of that well
turned brackish. The water thus became unfit for cooking food. The women
stopped taking water from that well. The water is brackish to this day.

In Patna city, the Prince would gather children of his own age and take them
to the banks of the river Ganges. He would divide them into two groups. He used
to teach them the art of warfare and at the same time to defend themselves. In
these mock battles, he would get the winning group rewarded by his mother. In
this way, children went with him to the river bank and played the drama of the
child army.

‘On reaching Anandpur, the Prince was taught horse-manship and use of
weapons by Bhai Bajjar Singh. The Prince was entrusted with the leadership of
the Sikhs at the age of nine on the martyrdom of Guru Tegh Bahadur.

On reaching the age of sixteen, the Guru ordered to make a very big drum. He
named it “Ranjit Nagara” which means the drum of victory. That drum was beaten
in the morning and evening before the start of prayers. Hearing the drum-beat
Sikh devotees used to gather at the Guru's institution. Every afternoon when the
Guru went for hunting, the Stkhs would precede him beating the drum. This drum
beat was a call of equality as only the kings (rajas) of the region could go hunting
in this manner.

The Sikhs, who came to Anandpur for audience with the Guru were taught
horse-manship and given weapon training before they returned back. After getting
weapon training the Sikhs urged their relatives and others to go to Anandpur and
get training. In this way the knowledge of the use of weapons spread among the
Sikhs.

Keeping in mind the training of warfare, the Guru got the first fort constructed
at Paonta Sahib. The Guru returned to Anandpur after the battle of Bhangani in
Himachal Pradesh. He got five forts constructed around Anandpur. To fulfill the
demand of the weapons, factories for the manufacture of arrows and swords were
opened at Anandpur.
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Rani Maini

Fateh Chand was a noted landlord of Patna. People knew him as a Raja, the
king. His wife Maini was known as Rani. They had no children. They resorted to
many amulets, incantations, worship and recitation but nothing bore fruit.
Whenever Rani Maini saw Gobind Rai and his “child army” pass by her palace her
yearning for a child increased.

One day, the Rani was immersed in deep thought on seeing the “child army".
A notion came to her mind that how nice it would be if Gobind Rai, the son of Mata
(mother) Gujri may sit in her lap, call her mother and say, “I am feeling very hungry.
Mother, please give gram-curry and fried cake (chhole and poori) that you have
prepared and kept inside, to me and my companions.” Getting these thoughts, she
got up and began preparing curry and cake.

The Rani had heard from Sikhs that the Prince can read the mind. Having
prepared curry and cake, the Rani sat outside to wait for the “child army”. In a
short while, the leader of the “child army” came to the courtyard where the Rani
was waiting. Entering the courtyard the leader of the “child army” said, “Mother,
bring the curry and cake that you have prepared. I and my companions are feeling
very hungry.”

The Rani took the thought reading master in her lap and fondled him with love.
She gave curry and cake to the “child master” with her own hands and also to the
rest of the “child army”. The Rani felt motherly bliss by feeding the Prince in her
lap like her own son. To get affection of a son the Rani began to prepare curry
and cake daily for the “child army”. Under pretext of serving meals the Rani began
to get love of a son daily.

One day, the maid in service of the Rani appealed to the child master that the
Rani did not have a child of her own. She may be blessed with a son like you. The
child master replied, “Only I resemble myself. None other can be like me. So if the
Rani considers me her son I shall become her son.” From that day, the affection
and love of the Rani for Prince Gobind Rai increased.

After the departure of Prince Gobind Rai from Patna, the Rani constructed a
gurdwara in her house where she served curry and cake to the children. In this
way she felt the presence of the Prince and she got affection of a son. That gurdwara
came to be known as “Maini Sangat” where the blessed food of curry and cake is
still distributed to the congregation to this day.
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Devotion of Mother Jamuna

One day a masand Sikh authorized by the Guru for the collection of offerings
was collecting the offerings and the tithe from the Sikh devotees at village Danapur.
A poor old woman, Mother Jamuna, lived in that village. She offered to put a small
quantity of pulse and rice for the community kitchen in the bag of the masand.
Seeing, the handful of pulse and rice, the masand thought that the offerings of the
elderly woman would not increase the quantity of the material of the bag, so he
stopped Mother Jamuna and sent her away with a reprimand. This greedy masand
was one of those who kept a large part of the offerings of the Sikh devotees for
themselves.

Mother Jamuna took the pulse and rice to her home. She believed that the
Guru could read the desires of the mind. She resolved that one day the Guru would
come to her and ask for the hotch potch to eat. “Then I shall prepare hotch potch
myself and serve it to the Guru,” she said to herself. After that day she stored
whatever little she could instead of giving it to the masand.

In 1671 AD Prince Gobind Rai stayed at Danapur on his way to Anandpur from
Patna. Mother Jamuna was overjoyed to hear the news of his stay as she could
see him with her own eyes. She prepared hotch potch with great love and devotion
and called to mind for the Prince to pay visit to her. The mind reader of the devotees
presented himself before Mother Jamuna and said, “Grandma, bring that hotch
potch which you have prepared for me.” Mother Jamuna was very pleased to see
the Prince. She brought the hotch potch she had prepared and offered it to the
Prince. The hotch potch was also served to the Sikhs accompanying the Prince.

When the young Prince rose to go, the old woman requested him to stay with
her forever. The Prince replied, “Grandma, I shall always be with you. If you want
to see me, prepare hotch potch in this pot and serve it to the needy and poor. You
can behold me before you.”

Whenever Mother Jamuna wanted to behold the Prince, she prepared hotch
potch and served it to the poor and she could feel the presence of the Prince. In
this way she always had the glimpse of the Guru till her last breath.

That earthen pot (handi) in which Mother Jamuna had prepared hotch potch
for the Guru is still kept in Gurdwara “Handi Sahib”.
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Defender of Faith

Of all the things, Guru Gobind Singh placed most reliance on religious faith.
He taught his Sikhs and other people who met him, to face death and extermination
in the cause of true faith. He told them to stand up and oppose the tyrants with
all the might instead of bearing the tyranny. The defence of faith lies in standing
up to tyranny. Real bliss can be enjoyed only by protection of faith. Nothing can
be achieved without sacrifice.

In 1674 AD the governor of Kashmir, acting on the orders of the King
Aurangzeb, started converting Hindus to Islam, forcibly. Those who refused were
punished, chastised and tortured. The poor and weak, obeying the orders of the
governor started to adopt Islam. When the Brahmins of Kashmir saw no other way
of saving their faith, they came to Anandpur led by Pandit Kirpa Ram and narrated
their woes to Guru Tegh Bahadur. Pandit Kirpa Ram used to teach Sanskrit at one
time to his son Gobind Rai and knew all about Guru Tegh Bahadur.

Guru Tegh Bahadur after giving deep thought told the complainants, “Faith
can be saved if some great saint is ready to lay down his life to save it.” Prince
Gobind Rai was also present in the court. Seeing a dead silence on all sides he
pleaded, “Father! I do not see anyone greater than you who has the sufferings of
the common man at his heart and who is ready to sacrifice himself for the sake of
faith and righteousness.”

Guru Tegh Bahadur was very pleased to hear this counsel of his son. He was
satisfied that Gobind Rai was capable to take up the seat of guidance founded by
Guru Nanak. He said to the Brahmins from Kashmir, “Go back to Kashmir and
tell your governor that Guru Tegh Bahadur is our religious leader. If you convert
him to Islam we all shall follow him and become Muslims.”

On receiving the message of Guru Tegh Bahadur, Aurangzeb sent his soldiers
to Anandpur to arrest the Guru. The Guru had already left for Delhi before the
arrival of the soldiers. On his way to Delhi, the Guru wanted to familiarize his
disciples with the barbarities committed by the ruler. The Guru was arrested at
Agra and brought to Delhi. The Guru and the Sikhs accompanying him could not
be convinced by arguments to become Muslims. To intimidate the Guru, they
started martyring the Sikhs after torturing them in different ways. Still the Guru
did not agree to become a Muslim. The Guru and the Sikhs remained firm in their
faith. At last, the Guru was martyred on the 11th November 1675. After the
martyrdom of the Guru, Aurangzeb was convinced that it was not possible to
convert every Hindu to Islam by force.
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Anandpur an Education Centre

Munshi Sahib Chand was a reciter of Granth Sahib at Guru’s institution. He
also taught the Punjabi language to the children in his spare time. After arrival at
Anandpur from Patna, Prince Gobind Rai started learning Punjabi from Munshi
Sahib Chand. Learning the Punjabi language was important as the teachings of
Guru Nanak were written in it. The Prince was very clever and intelligent. He learnt
to recite the whole of the Granth Sahib by heart in less then six months.

Munshi Pir Mohammad was assigned the job of teaching Persian to the Prince
as Persian was the official language in that era. Pandit Kirpa Ram Datt taught him
Sanskrit, Hindi and Brij Bhasha. In time the Guru became a top scholar of Punjabi,
Persian, Sanskrit and Hindi. In 1680 AD, the institutions teaching Sanskrit were
closed down by the orders of Aurangzeb. The Guru sent invitations and travel
expenses to the scholars of these institutions to come to Anandpur. On reaching
Anandpur, they were employed on salaries in accordance with their abilities and
qualifications.

In 1686 AD Pandit Raghu Nath refused to impart the knowledge of Sanskrit to
Sikhs. In his view, only Brahmins (high caste Hindus) could learn Sanskrit. It was
a sin to teach Sanskrit to others. He argued that by learning Sanskrit, people would
be able to read the books which contained all the religious knowledge of the times.
He was convinced of the fact that if he passed the knowledge of these books to the
general public then they would learn the reality. The Brahmins would then not be
able to bluff them or scare them in the name of numerous Gods. The Guru had
gone through all of these books so he wanted that his Sikhs should also know
what their ancestors had written. By a thorough reading the Sikhs would gain
religious knowledge, then they would discard the baseless rituals.

The Guru asked five Sikhs to don saffron robes and sent them disguised as
“Nirmala Saints” to Kanshi to learn Sanskrit. Upon completion of their studies,
they returned back to Anandpur and started teaching Sanskrit to Sikhs. By
learning Sanskrit, Sikhs got the knowledge written in Vedas and Puranas. The
Brahmins lost their respect with them. The truth that Brahmins had kept hidden
for generations from the general public was passed to them by the Sikhs.

Shi'ah (Muslim sect) and Sufi (Muslim Saints) men of learning also came to
Anandpur for fear of Aurangzeb. Bhai Nand Lal also came to Anandpur. In this
way, fifty two poets gathered around the Guru. Anandpur had become a place for
learning. Those who came to visit the Guru, were not allowed to return without
learning Punjabi and were encouraged to learn sacred hymns by heart. A small
book containing Guru’s hymns was given to them at the time of departure. The
Sikhs upon returning back to their villages, taught their other relatives and friends
the sacred hymns by heart and encouraged them to go to Anandpur and learn
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Punjabi. Guru Gobind Singh used the money donated by the Sikhs, on propagating
the teaching of Guru Nanak, constructing forts and looking after the buildings of
the gurdwaras.

To instil courage in the Sikhs, the Guru got ballads written by the poets and
had the ancient Purans (Hindu religious books) translated by the scholars in
Punjabi. Purans, which eulogize charity, worship and recitations more important
than truth. The teachings of these books teach people not to question the validity
of truth but to follow them which make the people cowards and blind followers.
The ballads of bravery written by the poets discouraged the stone worship. The
Guru made Sikhs worshippers of Shakti (The power).

The Guru, himself, composed a number of ballads and hymns. At the time of
leaving Anandpur, these books were laden on mules. Due to the heavy rains, the
river Sirsa was in flood and the books were carried away by water. Only a small
portion of the writing composed by the Guru was saved; namely Jap Sahib, Akal
Ustat, Sawaiyas, Chandi Charitra, Chaubis Avtar, Var Bhagauti ji ki, Shastar
Naam Mala, Gian Parbodh and some hymns of Charitar Pakhian.

Recitation of Guru’s word set to music (Kirtan) is considered supreme in the
institution of Guru Nanak. Aurangzeb was a Sunni Muslim. Music was against
his tenets. Aurangzeb had banned music in his kingdom in 1670 AD. Musicians
took their abode at Anandpur where their art was given a place of honour. Guru
Gobind Singh himself played a number of musical instruments, such as Mardang,
Jori and Sarinda, very well.

By orders of the Guru, blind beggars who begged in the streets and were a
burden on others, were taught the art of music which helped them to stand on
their feet.
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Sacrifice of Budhu Shah

Pir Budhu Shah was a Muslim saint who lived at Sidhaura in Himachal
Pradesh. While Guru Gobind Rai was staying at Paonta, the Pir was touring the
hilly areas. The Pir came to know that Guru Gobind Rai, the tenth embodiment in
the line of Guru Nanak, was staying at Paonta. He went to see the Guru, in a
planquin, as it was the fashion among kings and emperors of those times to move
with royal pomp and show, in planquins, with attendants and servants

The audience with the Guru gave him the peace of mind which the study of
religious books, prayers and meditation had not given. His mind was cleared of all
doubts after exchange of views with the Guru. The difference of ‘That is yours and
this is mine’ had disappeared from his mind. The Pir could see everything belongs
to one God, when he left for Sidhaura.

After the first meeting it became routine for Pir Budhu Shah to visit the Guru.
He no more needed a planquin to visit the Guru. He came to realise that the Guru's
fight was not for any kingdom but against the tyranny which was being perpetrated
against the poor people. Religion was being used as an excuse to commit tyranny.
He got five hundred Pathans (Natives of Afghanistan) who had been dismissed
from Aurangzeb’s army for being Shi'ah Muslim, enrolled with the Guru.

Before starting the’ War of Bhangani’, the hill states’ rajas tempted and enticed
four hundred of these five hundred Pathans to join them. When Pir Budhu Shah
came to know this disloyalty of the Pathans, he came to the Guru’s aid with his
seven hundred followers, four sons and two brothers. Fierce battle was fought at
Bhangani. Two of his sons attained martyrdom in the battle. The army of the hill
rajas suffered heavy casualties in the war and their forces were routed.

After the war was over, the Pir came to take leave from the Guru to go back to
Sidhaura. The Guru asked the Pir, “You have rendered great help to mein this
war. You may ask if you have any special wish. Your wish will be fulfilled from the
‘House of Nanak'.” At the time, the Guru was combing his hair. The Pir said to the
Guru, “If you are so pleased with my services, be kind enough to grant me this
comb with your hair entangled in it.”

The Guru gave the comb with the hair to Pir Budhu Shah. Later on Maharaja
Bharpur Singh of Nabha state obtained that comb and hair from the descendants
of the Pir after paying the sum asked by them.

When Aurangzeb came to know that the Pir had helped the Guru in the ‘War
of Bhangani’, he sent Usman Khan with a force to Sidhaura. Usman Khan arrested
the Pir. To punish the Pir for-helping the Guru he was martyred by burying alive.
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The Red Cross

Bhai Kanahiya was a resident of village Sodhara, district Gujranwala. He came
to Anandpur for the first time to have an audience with Guru Tegh Bahadur. He
was delighted by the audience. To feel that bliss all the time he stayed on in the
Guru’s institution. He was entrusted the service of fetching water for the com-
munity kitchen.

Before the start of the Battle of Bhangani, Guru Gobind Rai bestowed upon
him the duty of serving water to the needy in the battlefield. On the 15th April
1687, the hill states, rajas, weaning away four hundred Pathans (Natives of
Afghanistan), attacked the Sikhs. In the battlefield whosoever was thirsty came to
Bhai Kanahiya. He served them water. Hindus, Muslims, Sikhs and Pathans were
given a drink of water by him. Thus refreshed, they again took to fighting,.

When the Sikhs saw Bhai Kanahiya serving water to their enemy, they were
annoyed. The Sikhs thought, “If Bhai Kanahiya does not serve water to the
wounded soldiers of the enemy, they will surely die of thirst.” The Sikhs went to
the Guru and complained about it. After narrating the whole story they beseeched
that Bhai Kanahiya be prevented from serving water to the enemy.

The Guru called Bhai Kanahiya and asked him, “Brother, is it true that you
are serving water to the enemy soldiers who are thirsty and wounded by the Sikhs,
thus refreshing them to fight against them again?”

Bhai Kanahiya replied, “O’ True lord, I do not see any enemy. I behold you
everywhere. Whom should I serve water and to whom should I refuse? I serve water
to everyone who is in need and comes to me. You, yourself, have bestowed the
service of giving water to those in need.”

The Guru was very pleased to hear the answer of Bhai Kanahiya. Giving him
balm and bandages, the Guru said to him, “Bhai Kanahiya, from now on, besides
serving water, you should also bandage the wounded. Take some other Sikhs with
you and raise a team. You will be the leader of this band.”

Bhai Kanahiya did as directed. He set up a band of the Sikhs. He himself
became the head of that band. This was the beginning of the first ‘Red Cross
service'. Afterwards the bands looking after the needy and wounded began
identifying themselves as ‘Sewa Panthi’
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The Five Loved Ones

By the supreme sacrifice of Guru Tegh Bahadur at Delhi, the fame of the
institution of Guru Nanak spread to every nook and corner of the country. The
rich and the poor from far and near started coming to Anandpur to see and offer
respects to Guru Gobind Rai. The Guru dispensed with the middlemen called
Masands to collect the offerings and tithe from the Sikhs for the Guru’s institution.

With the end of the middlemen, Sikhs themselves brought their offerings to
Anandpur. This resulted in increase of love for the institution and the devotees
began to get the pleasure of beholding their Guru face to face. The Muslim, petty
landlords and other robbers began to harass the Sikh devotees on their way to
Anandpur with their offerings. To escape the robberies and harassment on the
way the Sikh devotees armed themselves. They used the arms for self-defence. The
skirmishes were the signs of awakening of the lowly and down trodden classes.
The Sikhs kept arms and had the skill to use them but did not carry them all the
time.

The Guru, finding the suitable time, decided to arm the Sikhs. He sent
invitations to the Sikhs to assemble at Anandpur on Baisakhi day, the 30th March
1699. An estimated eighty thousand Sikhs were present at Sri Kesgarh in the
morning congregation. The Guru joined the congregation after the recitation of
‘Asa Di War’ (balled from Granth Sahib) was over. He had a shining sword in his
hand. Showing the sword to the congregation, he said in a thunderous voice, “I
need a head. Is there a Sikh who is ready to present his head to his guru.”

Seeing this phenomenon of a sword in the Guru's hand and the demand for a
head by the Guru, the congregation was terrified with disbelief and silence fell all
around. After the third call, Bhai Daya Ram, a kshatri by caste from Lahore, Punjab
rose and requested, “O’ True lord, this body and soul belong to you and I offer it
to you. Use it as you desire. I seek forgiveness for not offering myself on the first
call.”

Holding him by the arm, the Guru took him inside the tent. Dread and fear
gripped. Congregation heard a sound from inside the tent as if the Guru had
severed the head of Bhai Daya Ram from the body.

The Guru again came to the congregation and asked for another head. This
time Bhai Dharam Dass, a farmer of Delhi offered his head. In this way, three
other Sikhs - Bhai Himmat Rai, waterman of Jagan Nath Puri, Orissa, Bhai
Mohkam Chand, tailor of Dwarka, Gujarat and Bhai Sahib Chand, barber of Bider,
Andhra Pradesh presented their heads to the Guru.

After the five Sikhs had offered their heads, the Guru brought them out of the
tent and presented them before the congregation. They were the Panj Piaras (the
five loved ones) who had offered their heads to the Guru. They were dressed in a
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similar attire as to the one worn by the Guru. They were the fully arrayed Singhs.

The Guru called for an iron bowl and in that he put the water of river Sutlej
and suger candy. Then the Guru and the five loved ones sat round that iron bowl.
Taking a doubled edged sword, the Guru began stirring the water in the bowl and
reciting the five banis (sacred hymns). The five hymns recited were Japu Ji, Jap
Sahib, Swaiyas, Chaupai and Anand Sahib.

After the completion of recitation of the five sacred hymns, the Guru said, “This
is the Amrit (nectar) which has been prepared. Khalsa (the pure) will be created
with this nectar. Khalsa will be the army of Wahiguru (God). Khalsa will destroy
tyranny.”

The nectar thus prepared was administered to the five loved ones. It was also
sprinkled in their eyes and hair. By partaking of the nectar by the five loved ones,
Khalsa was created. The Guru requested the Khalsa that he be administered the
bounty of the nectar and be made Khalsa. Having partaken the Amrit Guru Gobind
Rai became Guru Gobind Singh.

The Guru bestowed the gift of the nectar on the Sikhs and made them Singhs
(lions) and gave women the title of Kaur which means princess. He abolished the
four castes and differences created by the Brahmins. He put women on equal
footing to men in all respect. The differences between high caste and low caste
people were abolished among the Singhs. All the Singhs became brothers. The dirt
of ego was washed from the minds of the Singhs and they were made Khalsa - the
pure one.

The Guru made compulsory for the Singhs to wear the five kakars : Kes (hair),
Kangha (comb), Kara (iron bracelet), Kirpan (sword) and Kachhehra (long
breeches).

He also forbid them from the company of other women (adultery), to eat meat
of animals killed slowly in Islamic ways, use of intoxicants (to smoke) and to cut
hair and asked them to recite the five sacred hymns daily. He made Khalsa the
saintly soldier.

It is worth noting, that the five loved ones who offered their heads to the Guru
were all from different states and only one of them was from Punjab. All the five
were from different places, different professions and spoke different languages.
From this, one can imagine how far the roots of Sikhism were spread. The Guru’s
devotees were not only in Punjab and Delhi but were all over India. The whole of
India was sick of the tyranny being committed and was ready to sacrifice
everything, including their very lives.
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Hymn

“0O, Lord hear, this call of your devotee,
Without you, even soft bed is full of pain,

like sharing the palace with the snakes.
Flask is like a thorn

drinking cup like a dagger.

Without Thine grace, comforts are nothing

but sufferings of butcher’s knife.

Living with Thy Lord in a straw hut is heaven,
hell is the rich dwellings without Thy grace.
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The Miracle

Struggle for the throne of Delhi ensued among the sons of Aurangzeb after his
death. Guru Gobind Singh was still in Punjab at that time. Bahadur Shah asked
for help from the Guru through Bhai Nand Lal. The Guru sent a squad of Singhs
under the command of Bhai Daya Singh and Bhai Dharam Singh for help. That
squad joined Bahadur Shah near Mathura. Bhai Dharam Singh also gave a
message to Bahadur Shah from the Suru that he himself will join the battle.

On 18th June 1707, Bahadur Shah attacked the army of Azam near Agra. After
the departure of squad with Bhai Dharam Singh more Singhs from Amritsar side
Jjoined the Guru. Taking them along, the Guru set up camp on high ground near
the scene of the battle. From that mound the Guru shot an arrow which killed
Azam. Bahadur Shah won the battle. Reaching Agra on the 19th June he held a
court. He gave award to his chiefs, ministers and generals.

One day, Bahadur Shah asked Bhai Daya Singh, “The Guru had promised to
take part in this battle but he did not come.” The king had hardly completed this
sentence when an arrow fell near him. This arrow resembled the one that had
killed his brother Azam. Bahadur Shah said unintentionally that it was a miracle.
Instantly another arrow fell. With that arrow was attached a letter. It read, “O,
King, this is not a miracle, this is the excellence of skill.”

The King came to realise that the Guru was a reader of thoughts and a great
master of the art of archery. He was convinced that his victory was the result of
the Guru’s help and blessings. He sent Bhai Daya Singh to the Guru with the
request to come to Agra and give an audience. The first meeting between the Guru
and Bahadur Shah took place at Agra on the 2nd of August 1707.

Bahadur Shah seated Guru Gobind Singh on his right and offered great respect
and honour. He offered him valuable gifts. It was hard for the royal head priest to
bear this honour and respect for the Guru. To ascertain what super power the
Guru had, he requested the Guru to show some miracle.

The Guru pointed towards Bahadur Shah and told him, “Look, dear priest, the
King is a miracle. A man condemned to death, can go free by his orders.” The priest
replied, “This is no miracle. Every king can do this.” Then the Guru showed him
a gold coin and said, “Money is also a miracle. The world is mad after it. Everything
in the world can be bought with it.” The priest was not satisfied with this answer
also. When he asked the third time, the Guru placed his hand on the hilt of his
sword and said, “This is also a mircale. Those who do not agree, can be made to
agree with this.” The Guru was in the midst of these words when the head priest
interrupted and said, “Yes sir, I have seen the miracle. I don't need to see anything
more.”
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There were only two Singhs in the kitchen when Dalla called.

The Guru said to them, “I have called only one Sikh for the test and not two.”

Both the Singhs made a request together, “My lord, you have ordered for one
Singh but had not mentioned any particular name. My lord, I heard your order
first so I have presented myself. It is my privilage to become the target of the gun
first.”

The Guru made both of them to stand one before the other and fired the bullet
over their heads. Both the Singhs stood firm. When Dalla saw the courage of the
Singhs he was ashamed of his cowardice and that of his hale and hearty soldiers.
He came to realise what type of brave Singhs were by the side of the Guru in the
fortress of Chamkaur. Dalla stopped praising his soldiers from that day onwards.
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The Proud Dalla

Leaving Chamkaur Guru Gobind Singh reached “Sabo-ki-Talwandi” passing
through Machhiwara. That place is now known as “Damdama Sahib”. There, the
village headman, Dalla came to the Guru and offered his services. When the
governor of Sirhind came to know of the presence of the Guru at Dalla’s place, he
sent orders to Dalla, “You have a rebel, Guru Gobind Singh at your place. Hand
him over to me and you will be rewarded. If you do not obey my orders, I shall
attack, and destroy you along with the Guru.”

Dalla did not pay any heed to the threat of the governor. He sent word to him,
“I will never handover the Guru to you at any cost. You may try whatever means
you want. You can clear your doubt, you may have in your mind.” Setting aside
the fear of the governor, Dalla served the Guru very well and kept him at his place.

Dalla was very proud of his men. He always mentioned to the Guru like this,
“Had my men been with you in the Chamkaur fortress, the army of the governor
would not have dared to do any harm to you.” The Guru explained to the headman,
“Brother Dalla, good health and bravery are two different traits of a man. It is not
necessary for a healthy and strong man to be brave.” Even these arguments did
not convince Dalla and the illusion in his mind persisted. Dalla often thought,
“The-Singhs who were with the Guru in the fortress at Chamkaur would not have
been as brave and strong as his soldiers, due to which the princes had to go outside
the fortress and lay down their lives.”

Providence provided an opportunity to test the manliness of Dalla’s brave men.
One day a Singh from Lahore presented himself before the Guru with a new gun
named as ‘Ram Janga'. At that time Dalla and a few of his soldiers were sitting in
attendance. The Guru said to Dalla, “Brother Dalla, I want to test the aim of this
new gun whether it hits the target or not. Please send one of your soldiers so that
I may test this weapon on him.”

Dalla asked all the soldiers sitting with him one by one but no-body was ready
to offer himself for target test. All declined one by one. The Guru said to him, “All
right Dalla, if your brave men do not come forward, come yourself and stand in
front so that we may test this gun and honour the Singh who has presented it.”

Dalla saw the loaded gun in the hands of the Guru and his heart lost courage
on seeing death in front. He replied to the Guru, “Who wants to die this untimely
death? If there is a war, I am ready to demonstrate my bravery.”

The Guru then said to Dalla, “Brother, go and see if there is any Singh in the
kitchen. Tell him that your Guru wants to test the aim of the new gun. He wants
one Sikh to be the target of the bullet of that gun.”

Dalla, facing the kitchen, announced the orders of the Guru from a distance
as he was sure that no Sikh would be willing to be a target. Dalla was astonished
to see two Singhs running towards him, each one trying to get ahead of the other.
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The Lion Hearted Sher Khan

Sher Khan the governor of the state of Malerkotla was a man devoted to God.
The day young princes Fateh Singh and Zorawar Singh, the sons of Guru Gobind
Singh, were presented in the court of the governor of Sirhind, Sher Khan was also
present there. The governor of Sirhind, Vazir Khan suggested to him to take the
revenge of his brother Nahar Khan’s death, by torturing the young princes. Nahar
Khan was killed by an arrow shot by the Guru while he was trying to scale the
wall of the fortress of Chamkaur. The lion hearted Sher Khan refused his
suggestion. When the qazi (Muslim magistrate) pronounced the sentence of
embedding the princes alive in the wall, Sher Khan could not bear this atrocity
being committed.

Sher Khan stood up and said in the full court, “These children are innocent.
The children of five and seven years have done you no harm. They are not guilty.
Giving punishment to the small children like these is in contravension of the tenets
of Islam. The government has a quarrel with their father. You have not been able
either to arrest him or to do him any harm. Inspite of an army of hundreds of
thousands of men patrolling he is moving about in the country like a lion. To
avenge anger, against him, on these innocent children is an injustice.”

The qazi who had pronounced judgement replied, “Sher Khan, I am a gazi and
I know the tenets of Islam better than you do. The Islamic law permits that the
sons of an infidal can be crushed like sugarcane in a crusher. Taking pity on these
innocent children, I have sentenced them to be embedded alive in a wall. In this
case this sentence is befitting.”

When Sher Khan saw that Vazir Khan was not agreeing with his point of view,
he wrote to Aurangzeb about this injustice being committed and asked for the
release of the Guru's sons. No heed was paid to Sher Khan’s letter even by
Aurangzeb. Aurangzeb did not stop the governor of Sirhind from committing
unparalleled cruelty.

When Guru Gobind Singh came to know about the event that Sher Khan had
raised his voice against this atrocity being committed, he said, “Malerkotla
kingdom will endure for-ever.”

These words said by the Guru came to be true. The Nawabs (governors) of
Malerkotla ruled the state till attainment of freedom by India. Whenever the
governor of that state committed any mistake, the Sikh chiefs chastised him but
did not establish rule over the state. The governors and nawabs of other adjoining
states kept on changing. Only the descendents of that lion hearted Sher Khan
ruled the state of Malerkotla.
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Great Deed by Little Ones

Prince Zorawar Singh and Prince Fateh Singh were the two younger sons of
Guru Gobind Singh. They were seven and five years of age at the tim . of leaving
Anandpur. While crossing Sirsa river in the darkness of night, the ci'rrents of
water carried them and Mata Gujri, their grandmother, far away from wue rest of
the family. They were met by Gangu, the cook of the Guru’s institution. Gangu
took them along with him to his village Kheri. On the third day, he handed them
over to the police.

When the governor of Sirhind came to know of these arrests, he was overjoyed.
He said, “Let them be locked without food and drink in the cold tower and not be
given any warm clothing or blanket to ward off the cold.” As per ordcrs of the
governor, they were kept without food in the cold. A policeman was sent the next
morning to bring them to the court. Before seeing them off, the grandmother
advised them not to forsake their faith no matter what temptations, *hreats or
intimidations were made by the governor.

Both sons of the Guru accompanied by the policeman, entered the court. Both
of them folded their hands and said, “Wahiguru ji ka Khalsa, Wahigurw. ,. ki fateh,
means Khalsa (The pure) of the wondrous lord, victory to the won-rous lord.” The
governor was about to say something on hearing this greeting ci victory when his
minister Sucha Nand spoke, “Children, this is the court of Mughal empire and not
the court of Anandpur. Here, you have to bow your head to the governor. Inspite
of being a Hindu, I bow my head before every governor.”

Prince Zorawar Singh replied, “Our heads cannot bow hefore anyone except
God and the Guru.” This plain answer from the Prince inccnsed Sucha Nand very
much yet he could not do anything and became silent. Vazir Khan, the governor
of Sirhind, was confident that he would convert Guru's sons to Islam by luring
them with riches and worldly comforts which would be the great victory for him.
He lured and tempted the Princes with many things but they did not agree.

In the end, the governor asked them, “What will you do outside if I set you
free?” Prince Zorawar Singh replied, “On growing up, ve shall gather Singhs and
fight against tyranny until it is finished or we die fighting. We shall follow the
example set by our grandfather and his Sikhs. We cznnot concede defeat to the
tyranny. We shall live with honour and want to die with honour. We do not like
the life of cowards.”

The governor was alarmed on hearing that. He tho _ht that there would be a
perpetual threat to his life in case they live. He thought that his future would be
safe in finishing them.

Princes aged seven and five were embedded alive in a wall by his orders. In
fact, the determination of the princes to remain firm in their faith was another
defeat for the governor.
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The Revered Saint

Obeying the command of the ‘Panth’ (Decision arrived at by five Singhs) Guru
Gobind Singh left the fortress of Chamkaur in the darkness of night and started
towards the forest of Machhiwara. The next morning the Guru reached the orchard
whose owner was Gulaba, a Kshatri by caste. Seeing a shady tree, the Guru lay
down under it. Being tired, he fell fast asleep. When Bhai Daya Singh, Dharm
Singh and Maan Singh came, they woke him up. A worker in the garden informed
his master Gulaba, about the Guru. Gulaba was frightened when he came to know
that a rebel of the government was taking shelter in his garden. He came to Nabi
Khan and Ghani Khan and informed them about him.

Nabi Khan and Ghani Khan, residents of Machhiwara in Ludhiana district,
were brothers. Being traders of horses, people from far and near knew them by
name. They also came to Anandpur from time to time to sell horses to Guru Gobind
Singh. Seeing equal love for all at Guru’s institution, they also became devotees.

Nabi Khan and Ghani Khan prepared food for the Guru and the Singhs.
Accompanying Gulaba, they came to the garden and offered the food to the Guru
and the Singhs. Seeing Gulaba frightened, they requested the Guru, “Please
accompany us to our house and give us a chance to serve you. While with us, we
will do whatever you want us to do.” The Guru accepted their offer and moved to
their house.

A plan was made at night to make the Guru “Uch Da Pir” (Head of saint sect
from Multan province) and take him out of the seige of the patrolling army. Blue
garments of homespun cotten were prepared during the night. Just at the break
of dawn, the Guru was clad in blue garments and seated on a bed woven with
strings making him “Uch Da Pir". The two brothers and the three Singhs also wore
blue garments. Nabi Khan and Ghani Khan took the front feet of the bed on their
shoulders so that they may be able to reply to the enquiries on the way. Bhai Daya
Singh took a fan of peacock feathers and began waving it over the Guru’'s head.
Bhai Dharam Singh and Maan Singh gave their shoulders to the rear posters of
the bed.

On the way Munshi Pir Mohammand Qazi, who taught Persian to the Guru,
gave testimony to his being “Uch Da Pir”. He said, “This is some angel in tune with
Allah (God). He has no love for the material of the world. By stopping him you incur
the wrath of God. He should be allowed to go where he may wish.”

The royal patrol believed what the Qazi said. They bowed to the Pir and asked
forgiveness for their mistake.

Making the Guru the revered saint the two brothers took him out of the danger
of the royal army and carried him to Alamgir in Ludhiana district. The Guru saw
them off with a letter of honour.
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Making One Fight Against an Army

With the prolongation of seige of Anandpur, Aurangzeb became certain that it
was not possible to capture Anandpur so long as the Sikhs were inside the fort.
He adopted a policy of deceit. He wrote a letter to Guru Gobind Singh on the back
of a Koran, meaning that the holy book was witriess to his pledges, “Please leave
Anandpur fort. The royal army shall not follow you. You can go anywhere you like
in the country.”

Believing what the letter said, the Guru left Anandpur. No sooner had he set
foot out of the fort than the army pounced upon the Sikhs. Due to heavy rains the
River Sirsa was in flood at that time. The sikhs were seperated from each other
while crossing the river in the darkness of the night.

The Guru along with forty Sikhs and his two elder sons reached the clay-built
fortress of Chamkaur the next evening. The villagers extended warm welcome to
the Guru. The Guru fortified the fortress during the night. He posted the Sikhs on
all sides and sat himself on the roof as the royal army was coming in pursuit. By
day break the army arrived and surrounded the fortress. Army clad in black could
be seen as far as the eyes could see. Their number was estimated to be in hundreds
of thousands.

The generals knew that there were very few Sikhs inside the fortress. Early in
the morning they ordered the army to mount an attack. From inside the fortress
arrows rained with such ferocity as if there were thousands of Sikhs inside. The
army had to retreat once. When the arrows had been exhausted a squad of Singhs
came out opening the gate of the fortress, showed their valour with the sword and
the spear and attained martyrdom.

Seeing the Sikhs showing their skills to their last breath, seventeen years old
Prince Ajit Singh, the eldest son of the Guru, requested that he be allowed to show
his valour in battle like his brethren. The Guru willingly acceded to his request
and prepared him with his own hands to go to the battlefield. He was appointed
commander of five Singhs and the gate of the fortress was opened for them to pass.
When the soldiers saw the Prince, they pounced on him. In reply, the Singhs and
the Prince offered a tough fight. The Guru was watching this whole scene from the
roof of the fort. This squad sent hundreds out of the army of hundreds of thousands
to their eternal sleep and attained martyrdom.

Seeing the elder brother attain martyrdom, there was a surge of enthusism in
the heart of the second prince Jujhar Singh to go to the battlefield. He requested
his father for permission. He was also prepared by the Guru and sent outside the
fortress as the head of a squad of five Singhs to take on an army of hundreds of
thousands. The Guru himself went on the roof of the fortress and saw with his
own eyes how Prince Jujhar Singh fifteen years old attained martyrdom fighting
against tyranny like his elder brother.
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The Mind Reader

The rajas of hill states and the governors had to face another defeat even at
their third attack at Anandpur. Then they wrote an exaggerated letter to Aurangzeb
saying, “The power of Guru Gobind Singh has increased so much that we are
unable to defeat him and it is increasing day by day. It will be appropriate if
something is done now. Any delay in action will pose a threat to Delhi regime as
we have done our best.”

On receiving the letter, Aurangzeb sent Said Khan to capture Anandpur. Said
Khan had resolved, on starting that he would bring the Guru, dead or alive, to
Delhi. He was Pir Budhu Shah'’s brother-in-law. Village Sidhaura where the widow
of Pir Budhu Shah and sister of Said Khan lived with her children was situated
on the way to Anandpur. While on the march, he stayed for a night at Sidhaura
with his sister.

During their conversation at night, his sister advised him that it was not proper
to attack holy men. They cannot be conquered. She said to him, “One should go
to them to gain something and not to make them prisoners. The Guru’s fight is
against tyranny. He is not after any kingdom. I have sacrificed my two sons and
husband for him. You are still unable to understand that the Guru is the knower
of the minds.”

Although his sister had advised and pleaded with him yet Said Khan did not
stop. He attacked Anandpur in collaboration with the hill rajas. This was the fourth
battle of Anandpur. When Said Khan saw Said Beg and Moman Khan fighting the
royal army on the side of the Guru he thought, “If, as my sister said, the Guru can
read one’s mind, I shall be convinced only if he comes face to face with me.” When
Said Khan was thinking like this the Guru stood before him and said, “Said Khan,
you have remembered me and so I have come before you. Be ready to strike as I
give you the first chance to strike.”

Seeing the Guru standing before him, Said Khan forgot to strike. The dreams
of capturing the Guru alive or dead, which he had harboured at the time of
marching from Delhi, were shattered. He placed his sword at the feet of the Guru
and pleaded with him to be allowed to fight against the tyranny along with the
army of the Singhs.

The Guru did not allow him to do this. Acting upon the teachings of the Guru,
Said Khan gave up the command of the army and became a recluse. He spent the
rest of his life in the service of humanity like a pious and God-fearing man.
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He Blesses the Humble

In 1701 AD the hill rajas attacked Anandpur taking petty landlords and the
rich people with them. Their combined forces could not defeat the Singhs. The
Singhs fought with skill from inside the fort. Not seeing victory in sight, the hill
rajas beseiged Anandpur and waited. The hill chiefs blocked the supplies of food
to the city of Anandpur. Even after a seige of two months the Singhs did not
surrender.

One day Raja Kesari Chand chalked a plan with the other rajas “Iron plates
and shields were to be tied to the forehead of an elephant and it was to be
intoxicated by feeding hemp and wine. The gate of Lohgarh fort was then be broken
with his help. Attack was to be mounted on the fort after breaking down the gates.
The Guru was to be captured alive, if possible.”

This scheme of Kesari Chand for breaking the gate was narrated to the Guru
by an informer. The Guru said, “We too have an elephant in the fort, who can
defeat Kesari Chand's elephant.” Duni Chand was standing near the Guru at that
time. He thought that the Guru's reference to the elephant of the fort might be
towards him. He got frightened of facing the elephant. He thought it better to jump
the wall of the fort and flee at night. In the darkness of the night, he fell while
crossing the wall and broke his leg. With great difficulty, he reached his home at
Amritsar.

When people at home came to know that he had deserted the Guru, they
stopped talking to him. Ashamed as he was, he did not venture out of his house.
Devoid of the blessings of the Guru, Duni Chand died of snake’ bite inside his
house. Afterwards, to wash out the blot of ignominy of their father, his two sons
Bhai Anup Singh and Sarup Singh presented themselves before the Guru at
Anandpur and started serving the Guru's institution, after partaking Amrit
(baptising).

When the elephant, intoxicated by the hill rajas, neared the fort gate, the Guru
blessed Bhai Bachittar Singh son of Bhai Mani Singh Martyr. He was given the
serpentine spear and sent to face the elephant. With the blessings of the Guru, he
got the gate of the fortress opened and with great alacrity, making the horse stand
on its hind legs, struck the serpentine spear on the forehead of the elephant. The
spear, piercing the iron plates on the forehead of the elephant stuck inside. The
intoxication of hemp and wine of the elephant disappeared. Writhing in pain, it
turned and ran. The elephant began to trample the forces of the hill rajas. There
was a panic in the forces of Raja Kesari Chand. The Singhs got their opportunity
to come out and fight with the enemy. While fighting, Bhai Udhay Singh had a
chance and with one clean stroke of his sword severed the head of Kesari Chand.
He presented it to the Guru. With the failure of second scheme of the hill rajas
and loss of Raja Kesari Chand, the morale of the hill rajas was razed to the ground
and in this way the seige of Anandpur was broken.

55




g1l

dJ<

d<

-

He Blesses the Humble




IS Efsmracs €

1701 gt: feg yat gfant 3 Jiva 3 W' S o8 B 3 »duyd Qua o dft3n Qg
73 35d §t fifwt § 99 & Al fiw fag fed vt gftrdt o &332 991 i3 & Jet <y
I G wdTyd g WaT U & 85 Je| g gfendt 'ad Wi uret viwg A de a9 fdsn @
HdS 2 uid fug & fwf g9 & Hgh

feg fos g andt g€ 3 gfmit It 3 feg tae werdt « “feg ot € & Qus
BI 2 3R I TS Uy wE 3 Tt § ol & 3 WA fumr @ RS oftzr AR Gt
Hee o8 8J-313 € gdew g 3fw a1 wdewr e we 3 ffwt €%ug uer 81 fozr
A2 3 Ao 3T g § fier uag fonr we w1 feg wa fdzr aey”

g +#t g amdt d€ € vaew 375 o fe@3, €T © wdte 3w ¥ a1g +Hft 3 fawr,
A3 uH IiEt vieg & fea ot I faosr amdt e @ ot T o 9 Haer 31 et 9
SH »H 3ig #f uR uzr i €7 g Sfamr faR a1g Hft T fewg ot @ ot v €R =
I QT It T HaES I35 3 39 famm €R 3 I3 I3 Tt <t Gy Ju A FW AT S
S g3 @ iUd feg fagd <t du Su sfamit fgar famrr 3 &3 e aret vt was &8
QI miuE w3 wifl3nRg UaT

To!l g€ © wd fou' § A€ Uz Bfamr fa €9 Ig 3 iy J o wifer 3 37 T wifgni
OF § gEe ¢ 93 fE3T WaH € W3 QT wd 993 & faaser g <t sufim 3 Wy
fegrer €8t d€ wa @ »ied WU 2 535 3% M farrm @7 fug 87 2 € U39 wigu w3
gy iy »u@ fuzr &t seendt & Iy e Bt g Ht uw wmideug aag 32 3 ifE
84 o gIg wd € R feg Fa ae

Y J d €al 9€ © 34 7 3 gH fus ugd afant v vAg iz ot a1t @ waew
33 U 3t gg # 3 =feg fitw 989 y3a It vt fw wdfte § awe fast €n § et
€ o oHt @ Haad set 39 fozn gg o uflm wear, €93 it T g yger ¥ u=#
3 B W § Uy € U™ 3 ¥ J9a aaret oHt ® WE few Wit waret ot @ fig
Sug dg dfenff Sfer F Fict e e fesw i ot o iae 3 AR oo w8
8733 famr 8T €y 3 Ifle o8 Izew o iz § 7 3fammm

gt gt It €t €9 § B335 Tar| andt 9e &t ev feg Wz U et uon § EW
&8 € J9 935 € Na' S famrl 3t €1 w3 ware Ju w3font gsfont fea @9 feg
I JIndt € © e U 58 e a9 fE3n ag Wt um v g gag oft3r uoret g wush
ot HeltH € 3% JT @ % &% Jndt gu § & e 831 397 o J €75 3 93 I

53




Tender Hearted Said Beg

Said Beg and Alif Khan were two generals in the army of Aurangzeb. They were
going, with their armies, from Delhi to Lahore. Their informer came and told them,
“Guru Gobind Singh is on his way from Kurukshetra to Anandpur. He has, with
him, only a squad of hundred Singhs at this time. This is a good opportunity to
capture him. We should take full advantage of this.”

The generals had five thousand men each. They also felt that the Guru could
be captured alive. Without thinking and deliberating further, they began to pursue
the Guru. They were confident that they had ten thousand fully trained soldiers.
One hundred Singhs who had just taken up arms and started riding horses were
no match for them.

Singhs at Anandpur came to know that an army of Aurangzeb was pursuing
the Guru. They hurriedly managed a squad of further four hundred Singhs who
joined the Guru on the way. The royal army attacked the Singhs near Chamkaur.
The generals were wonder struck on seeing the valour and the method of warfare
of the Singhs, who had repulsed their forces.

The generals had heard about the valour of the Singhs but that day they
witnessed everything with their own eyes, how five hundred Singhs were holding
an army of ten thousand at bay. Singhs were fighting with such skill and bravery
that Said Beg could not stop himself from watching them. He forgot that he himself
was in the battlefield to fight. His heart melted. He could not bear the cruelty being
meted out to the Singhs. He entrusted the command of his army to Alif Khan and
himself joined the Guru. Alif Khan was wounded while fighting. Without a
commander, the soldiers thought it better to run and save their lives. The Singhs
won the battle. Said Beg came to Anandpur and started living with the Guru.

At Anandpur the people were taught, “We are all children of the same Father
who is the One Supreme Being.” The rich and the poor were treated with the same
respect. No one thought of encroaching on other’s rights. Hindus and Muslims
were treated alike and respectfully. It can be said that in those days Anandpur
was a heaven on earth. By coming in the presence of Guru Gobind Singh even the
hearts of stone become tender and pure in mind. Said Beg also started participat-
ing in battles against tyranny. He attained matryrdom while fighting against the
royal army in the fourth battle of Anandpur.
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The Real and the Fake

Guru Gobind Singh along with his Singhs went hunting daily in the evening.
They hunted tigers and leopards. In this way the fallacy of the general public that
hunting was only for kings to pass time was eroded. The hunting encouraged the
Singhs to face the dangers. One day the Guru had a tiger skinned and brought
the skin with him. The Guru ordered that this skin be put on a donkey. The Sikhs
put the skin on a donkey who was grazing nearby.

The villagers saw the donkey in the early morning. They thought that a tiger
was prowling near the village. They alerted the neighbours about the tiger by going
from house to house. All the people of the village were terrified. No one dared to
go towards the side the tiger was sighted. That donkey roamed around the village,
grazing, for two or three days. Nobody noticed that it could not be a tiger as it ate
grass. Seeing its skin from a distance they concluded that it was a tiger.

A potter was passing that way with his donkeys. His donkeys began to bray.
The donkey with the tiger's skin also joined his brethren in.the chorus. The potter
went and removing the tiger's skin from the donkey, threw it away. He was very
pleased to find his missing donkey. He drove it away along with other donkeys. By
braying, the secret of the donkey was out.

When the people of the village came to know that the tiger skin had been put
on the donkey by the Guru, they got together and went to the Guru. They requested
him to enlighten them why he had harassed the villagers for three days? What was
the secret behind it?

The Guru explained that this drama had been enacted to make Singhs
understand. A Sikh does not become a Singh by adopting outer symbols. A Singh
should have the spirit of Sikhism within him. By donning a tiger’s skin a donkey
could not become a tiger. The donkey could terrify the simple villagers only for
three days. When it's secret was out, it became a donkey again.

In this way a Sikh does not become a Singh by keeping long hair and beard
and a sword. Without good deeds he may come to be called an imposter. A Singh
should have Sikhism within himself. In reality, a Sikh can be tested by his deeds.
This kind of living can only be attained by following the teachings of the Guru.
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sent a Singh before hand, who had been entrusted with the duty of guarding the
abode of the prostitute. Joga Singh saw that a Singh was standing at the door. On
seeing him he turned back, thinking that he would enter when the Singh had
departed.

After some time when he returned he still saw the Singh standing at the door.
Seeing him he turned away again. In this way Joga Singh continued to come again
and again throughout the night but left every time on seeing the Singh standing
there. He spent the whole night going to and fro.

At the break of the dawn, when Joga Singh came, the Singh said to him, “Joga
Singh, now it is time to meditate. Go and sing His praises.” That brought Joga
Singh to his senses. He began to repent upon the sin he had been harbouring in
his mind throughout the night. The Guru himself came and saved him otherwise
he would have committed such immoral deed. He began to feel ashamed of going
to the Guru. With a broken heart he presented himself in the congregation at
Anandpur.

After the end of the morning assembly, the Guru called Joga Singh. The Guru
commended him for his sacrifice at Peshawar. Joga Singh expressing his gratitude
for saving his honour during the night at Hoshiarpur, placed his head at the feet
of the Guru and said, “Benefactor as you are, you forgive the mistakes of your
devotees. Please forgive me.”

The Guru granted him forgiveness but the Sikhs have not forgotten that
happening as they get guidance from it.




True Guide Frees from Bondage

Once a large number of devotees came to Anandpur from Peshawar to have an
audience with Guru Gobind Singh. A very handsome youth between thirteen and
fourteen years was one of them. He ceremoniously bowed his head at the feet of
the Guru just as his parents and other devotees had done. When he was paying
his obeisance, the Guru asked him, “Child, what is your name?"” The youth replied,
“My true guide, my name is Joga.” Joga in Punjabi means for someone.

The Guru again asked, “Bhai, who is that someone?” The boy was very clever.
He replied promptly, “True lord, you are.”

The Guru said, “From today you are for me and I am for you.” On hearing this
from the Guru, Joga obtained his parents consent to stay in the Guru'’s institution.

Joga remained with the Guru while his parents and other devotees returned
to Peshawar. From that day on, Joga devoted his body and soul in the service of
Guru’'s institution. He was baptised and became Joga Singh from Joga.

His parents betrothed him to a very beautiful girl from a good family. Consider-
ing the suitable time for his marriage his parents fixed a date for the ceremony
and came to Anandpur to take him with them. As told by his father, Joga Singh
asked the Guru to allow him to go for his marriage ceremony. The Guru said, “Joga
Singh, you can go with pleasure. There is only one condition that you should come
back immediately upon my orders.”

“Your command be true, it will be as your reverance wishes.” Saying this Joga
Singh touched Guru’s feet and departed for Peshawar to get married.

On the fixed date after the conclusion of the early morning recitation of prayers,
the Anand Karaj (marriage ceremony) of Joga Singh started. After the completion
of the first two lawans (hymns from Granth Sahib) out of the four which have to
be recited to complete the marriage ceremony, a Sikh handed over a letter from
the Guru to Joga Singh. The letter stated, “Return to Anandpur immediately on
reading this letter.”

After going through the Guru’s letter, Joga Singh left the marriage ceremony.
The relatives pleaded with him to complete the marriage ceremony before proceed-
ing to Anandpur. He paid no attention to their requests. He said to them, “My Guru
has written to come leaving all the works so it is my duty to leave.” He jumped
upon his horse and proceeded towards Anandpur.

It was evening when Joga Singh reached Hoshiarpur. He deliberated with a
thought that came into his mind, “Can there be a Sikh of the Guru who like me
will obey the orders of the Guru, leaving even his marriage ceremony unfinished?”
He became proud of himself. In the meantime he saw a prostitute, while passing
through the bazar. Seeing the beautiful prostitute, his mind was set on spending
the night with her.

The Guru who knew what was in the mind of his true devotees, had already
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